No. 43170-0-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

TERRY EUGENE GAINES,

Appellant.

On Appeal from the Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 10-1-00422-1 The Honorable Kathryn Nelson, Judge

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STEPHANIE C. CUNNINGHAM Attorney for Appellant WSBA No. 26436

4616 25th Avenue NE, No. 552 Seattle, Washington 98105 Phone (206) 526-5001

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The trial court erred when it failed to enter written findings and conclusions after the CrR 3.6 hearing.
- 2. The trial court erred when it denied Appellant's CrR 3.6 motion to suppress.
- The state failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt all the elements of trafficking in stolen property.
- 4. The state failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt all the elements of money laundering.

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- Did the trial court err when it failed to enter written findings and conclusions after the CrR 3.6 hearing? (Assignment of Error 1)
- 2. Did the affidavit contained in the complaint for search warrant fail to establish probable cause to believe that Terry Gaines was engaged in criminal conduct, and was it based on mere supposition and personal belief, where the affidavit concluded that Terry Gaines must be knowingly selling stolen Xerox ink sticks because he is selling the ink sticks online for less than retail, and because several other individuals who engaged in the same practice had been

- arrested (but not yet convicted) of selling stolen ink sticks?
 (Assignment of Error 2)
- 3. Did the State prove all the elements of trafficking in stolen property where the evidence did not support a conclusion that Gaines knew the property was stolen? (Assignment of Error 3)
- 4. Did the State prove all the elements of money laundering where the evidence did not support a conclusion that Gaines knew the proceeds were obtained from the sale of stolen property? (Assignment of Error 4)

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The State charged Terry Eugene Gaines by Amended Information with eight counts of money laundering (RCW 9A.83.010, .020) and 34 counts of trafficking in stolen property (RCW 9A.82.050). (CP 2682-2705) The State also alleged in each count that the offense was aggravated because it was "a major economic offense or series of offenses" (RCW 9.94A.535(3)(d)). (CP 2682-2705) The State alleged that, over a five year period, Gaines sold printer ink sticks stolen from the Xerox Corporation, and used the proceeds from the sales for personal purchases. (CP

26-31, 2682-2705).

Prior to trial, Gaines moved to suppress evidence collected during a search of his home, arguing that the facts alleged in the State's request for a search warrant were insufficient to support the issuance of a warrant. (CP 56-66; RP 70-73, 76-77) Gaines also moved to dismiss the charges, pursuant to Knapstad, arguing that the State's evidence did not establish that the ink sticks were stolen and/or that Gaines knew they were stolen. (CP 111-2681; RP 145-49, 158-59) Both motions were denied. (RP 77-78, 160) Gaines unsuccessfully renewed his motion to dismiss at the conclusion of the State's case-in-chief. (RP 1021-25)

The jury convicted Gaines on all counts, and found that the "major economic offense" aggravator applied to all of the counts except money laundering charged in count one. (RP 1277-1292; CP 2824-2907) The trial court imposed an exceptional sentence totaling 108 months, and ordered restitution in the amount of 1.8 million dollars. (CP 2949, 2950, 2952-53, 2959-2962; RP 1317-19) This appeal timely follows. (CP 2931)

B. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

The Xerox Corporation manufactures a line of wax-like ink sticks for use in its business printers. (RP 865-66) These "Phaser"

ink sticks are manufactured in only one location, Wilsonville, Oregon. (RP 200, 862) The Wilsonville plant manufactures approximately 12 million Phaser ink sticks per year. (RP 868) There are tight controls in place to oversee the manufacture and inventory of the ink sticks. (RP 868, 895, 896) If any ink sticks are not up to standard, they are either re-melted and remanufactured, or are transported and disposed of by a professional waste management company. (RP 868, 869-70, 872)

The salable ink sticks are sent off-site to be placed by threes into pre-printed and branded cardboard boxes. (RP 876-77, 897-98) Xerox then sells the packaged ink sticks to large distributors, who sell the ink to retail vendors for eventual sale to business consumers. (RP 920-21) Xerox does not sell the ink sticks at a discount, and also keeps track of all of their distributors. (RP 925, 926)

A Research and Development team is also located at Xerox's Wilsonville campus. (RP 893) The team works in close proximity to the manufacturing operation. (RP 893) The team uses a great deal of ink in their work, so they have access to a large storage area filled with loose, unpackaged sticks. (RP 893, 897-98, 899)

Keith Cutri worked as a theft and fraud investigator for Xerox corporation. (RP 190-191) In early 2008, Cutri received a tip that Xerox employees stationed at the Microsoft campus in Redmond, Washington, were stealing ink sticks out of a storeroom and reselling them online. (RP 199) He went to several online auction sites, such as eBay, looking for anyone selling large volumes of Xerox ink sticks. (RP 200) He came across one seller doing business as RAM_98405. (RP 200) Cutri monitored RAM_98405's account, and noted a consistent pattern of large volume sales at prices well below the normal retail price. (RP 200, 202, 203)

Cutri also engaged in three transactions with RAM_98405 for the purchase of Phaser ink sticks, so that he could inspect the product and obtain the address of the seller. (RP 206) Cutri determined that RAM_98405 was the username of Terry Gaines, and the associated address was 3843 South 8th Street in Tacoma, Washington. (RP 199, 207, 333-34)

Cutri purchased 12 sticks for \$233.00, but 12 sticks would usually sell at the retail price of about \$450.00. (RP 203, 209) The ink sticks arrived unwrapped and without the usual retail packaging. (RP 211-12, 214) This indicated to Cutri that RAM_98405 was not a legitimate distributor. (RP 214)

Then, in early 2009, Cutri learned of allegations that Xerox employees at the Wilsonville campus were stealing and selling ink sticks. (RP 204) Because RAM_98405 was still engaged in selling a large volume of ink sticks, Cutri suspected a connection and contacted the Tacoma Police Department to file a compliant. (RP 204, 216)

Tacoma Police Detective Scott Shafner received Cutri's complaint and began an investigation. (RP 332-33, 337) Shafner went to the South 8th Street address and spoke to Gaines. (RP 338-39) Gaines confirmed that RAM_98405 was his eBay and PayPal username, and acknowledged that he sold Xerox ink sticks on eBay. (RP 339, 340)

Gaines agreed to let Shafner inside the home to see the ink. (RP 340) Shafner noticed three large bins filled with individual blister packs of ink sticks. (RP 340) He estimated that Gaines had about 500 ink sticks. (RP 340) According to Shafner, Gaines became "uncomfortable" when asked how he obtained the ink sticks. (RP 341) Gaines told Shafner that he got them from an online auction site from a user called "angeleyes." (RP 341)

After this visit, Shafner obtained a search warrant for Gaines'

house and his eBay and PayPal records.¹ (RP 346) When Shafner and other officers searched Gaines' house in April of 2009, they seized 328 individual ink sticks. (RP 348, 363, 373) Shafner also told Gaines that he believed the ink had been stolen, and Gaines replied, "Really?" (RP 348)

Shafner sent samples of the seized ink sticks to the Xerox plant in Wilsonville for examination and testing. (RP 353) Testing of the ink confirmed that it was genuine Xerox Phaser ink, manufactured at the Wilsonville, Oregon plant. (RP 853, 858, 859, 860-862) A visual inspection of the ink sticks indicated that the sticks were all from the same batch, and were manufactured within minutes of each other. (RP 892)

Cutri reviewed the eBay and PayPall records that Shafner obtained, and noticed several payments to a person named Tom Long. (RP 291, 375-76) He ran that name through Xerox's human resources database, and found that Long was employed at Xerox's Wilsonville campus. (RP 220) Long worked in the Research and Development engineering support group, which is responsible for

-

¹ PayPal and eBay are jointly owned. (RP 562) Through PayPal, anyone can set up an account to make or receive payments via credit card or wire transfer to or from any other individual or business. (RP 562) PayPal is not a bank, but a PayPal account can be used like a bank account by the account holder. (RP 566-57)

testing Phaser printer products. (RP 220, 893) Long would have had access to ink sticks but would not have had permission to take them off site. (RP 222, 897-98, 899)

Shafner then obtained a search warrant for all of Gaines' financial records. (RP 380) A forensic accountant, William Omatis, reviewed Gaines' Washington Mutual bank, Chase bank, eBay and PayPal records from 2005-2009. (RP 391, 726, 736-39, 743) Omatis did not find any reference to payments for, or purchases of, ink sticks by Gaines. (RP 743, 805) But he did notice a number of payments made to or purchases made on behalf of Tom Long. (RP 799-800, 801-03))

Omatis estimated that Gaines' ink sales totaled approximately \$900,000 between 2005 and 2009, but Xerox estimated their revenue loss at approximately \$1.8 million. (RP 253-54, 806, 928) A portion of Gaines' sales were conducted through the internet and eBay and a portion were conducted offline. (RP 747, 752-53, 758-59)

Between 2005 and 2009, Gaines did not report the income or wages earned from selling the ink sticks on his Washington business tax returns or to the State Employment Security Department. (RP 553, 555, 593-94) And there are no notations in

Gaines' financial records of payments to the Internal Revenue Service in connection with the ink sale income. (RP 806-08) But Gaines did report some non-ink related income from various sources. (RP 768-70)

As far as expenditures, Omatis noted that Gaines transferred money from his PayPal account into his personal bank accounts, but also made several consumer purchases directly from his PayPal account. (RP 755, 776) During the period between 2005 and 2009, Gaines made significant purchases from Lowes and Home Depot and paid for construction labor; purchased a \$4,000 home security safe; made mortgage payments; purchased several automobiles, including a 2008 Infinity; made investments in stocks and precious metals; and took several vacations and a cruise. (RP 643-44, 717-18, 721, 776, 777, 791-95)

As the investigation continued, Shafner collected evidence that Gaines was continuing to sell ink on eBay in the months following the first search of his home. (RP 388-39) Shafner executed a second search warrant at Gaines' house in January of 2010. (RP 400) The officers seized computers, an Infinity automobile, a large safe that contained weapons, collectible coins, a large silver bar, and expensive cameras. (RP 415, 487) During

the search, Shafner noticed that Gaines' basement appeared to have been recently renovated. (RP 428-29) Gaines was placed under arrest and taken into custody. (RP 40, 617)

Gaines' son, Devon Gaines, testified that Long and his father were very close, like brothers. (RP 678) Long would bring ink sticks to the house, and Gaines sold the sticks on eBay. (RP 667-69) Gaines' daughter, Alexis Gaines, also testified that her father got the ink sticks from Long. (RP 284) She testified that she overheard Gaines telling Long what colors and amounts of ink sticks Long should get for him. (RP 291-92) She also testified that Gaines gave her a box of ink sticks to store at her house after the first search of his home. (RP 297)

Brenda Diettrich dated Gaines for about a year and a half during the time that Gaines was selling the ink sticks. (RP 636, 638) According to Diettrich, Gaines told her that he obtained the ink from an online auction, and that it was being stored in a barn outside of Portland. (RP 640) Gaines would get the ink from a man named Tom. (TP 640-41) He also told her that Tom got the ink from the trash dumpsters at Xerox. (RP 643)

Gaines did not deny selling the ink sticks, but denied that he knew or suspected that they were stolen. (RP 1103, 1105, 1109)

He testified that Long is a good friend who approached him with a business proposition to sell ink that Xerox was throwing away. (RP 1102-1103, 1104)

Gaines first researched asking prices for ink sticks on eBay, and saw that a lot of people were selling ink sticks at below retail. (RP 1103-04, 1106) Gaines then began selling Long's ink sticks on eBay at competitive prices. (RP 1103-04, 1106) He shared the proceeds with Long. (RP 1106, 1162)

Cutri confirmed in his testimony that many people sell Xerox ink sticks on eBay, and that Gaines' prices are consistent with the prices paid to the other sellers. (RP 234-35) It is not uncommon for eBay sales to be below retail prices. (RP 235)

It did not occur to Gaines that the ink sticks were stolen because he did not think that was something Long would ever do, and because there were so many sellers on eBay doing the same thing. (RP 1106, 1107, 1108, 1109)

IV. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES

A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE COLLECTED AS A RESULT OF A SEARCH OF GAINES' HOUSE BECAUSE THE SEARCH WARRANT AFFIDAVIT DID NOT SUPPORT A PROBABLE CAUSE DETERMINATION

Detective Shafner submitted a complaint for search warrant

to the Pierce County Superior Court. (CP 64-66; a copy of the complaint is attached in the Appendix) In the search warrant affidavit, Shafner asserted that:

- Cutri contacted him and informed him that Gaines is selling stolen ink sticks on eBay. Cutri "knows they are stolen because of the discrepancy in how much these ink strips cost on the market and how much he's selling them for on eBay."
- A factory worker at the Wilsonville, Oregon manufacturing plant was arrested for stealing and selling ink sticks.
- Gaines sold a pack of three ink sticks to Cutri for \$233.25, when three ink sticks would generally retail for \$425.96.
- Other individuals are suspected of selling large amounts of stolen ink sticks on eBay at reduced prices, including one individual with a username of "angel955."
- Gaines had a large quantity of ink sticks in his house, and said he bought them through an auction from someone with the username "angeleyes."
- In order for Gaines to make a profit, "he must have bought these for much less than he's selling them for. He is reluctant to tell your affiant exactly where he got the ink and how much he paid for the ink. All of this leads one to believe Terry Gaines knows the Xerox ink in his possession is stolen."

(CP 64-66) Based on this complaint, a search warrant for Gaines' house was issued and executed. (RP 346-47)

Gaines moved to suppress the fruits of the search, arguing that the search warrant affidavit did not support a probable cause

determination. (CP 56-66; RP 70-73, 76-77) The trial court orally denied the motion, stating:

That sentence [stating that Cutri knows they are stolen because they are being sold for less than retail value,] in and of itself may not be complete support for the reasonable inference but there are numerous other paragraphs in this search warrant, and those numerous other paragraphs, as explained by the detective, is -- goes to why Mr. Cutri believes the item is stolen. So I am denying the motion to suppress.

(RP 77-78) But the trial court did not enter any written findings and conclusions formalizing its ruling.

Criminal Rule 3.6(b) requires written findings to be entered following a hearing regarding the admissibility of evidence. As noted by our Supreme Court:

The purpose of . . . written findings of fact and conclusions of law is to enable an appellate court to review the questions raised on appeal.... A trial court's oral opinion and memorandum opinion are no more than oral expressions of the court's informal opinion at the time rendered. An oral opinion "has no final or binding effect unless formally incorporated into the findings, conclusions, and judgment."

State v. Head, 136 Wn.2d 619, 622, 964 P.2d 1187 (1998) (citations omitted) (discussing CrR 6.1(d)'s requirement of written findings following a bench trial).

Gaines is prejudiced by the absence of written findings because he is unable to assign error to the trial court's findings and

conclusions, which compromises his ability to adequately challenge the court's rulings and his convictions.

Nevertheless, it is clear that the trial court erred when it denied Gaines' motion to suppress because Detective Shafner's affidavit did not establish probable cause because it is based on supposition not facts.

Appellate courts generally review the issuance of a search warrant for an abuse of discretion. <u>State v. Maddox</u>, 152 Wn.2d 499, 509, 98 P.3d 1199 (2004). Although deference is given to the probable cause determination of the issuing judge or magistrate, a reviewing trial court's assessment of probable cause is a legal conclusion reviewed de novo. <u>State v. Chamberlin</u>, 161 Wn.2d 30, 40-41, 162 P.3d 389 (2007); <u>State v. Young</u>, 123 Wn.2d 173, 195, 867 P.2d 593 (1994).

The warrant clause of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 7 of our state constitution require that a trial court issue a search warrant only upon on a determination of probable cause. State v. Vickers, 148 Wn.2d 91, 108, 59 P.3d 58 (2002); State v. Cole, 128 Wn.2d 262, 286, 906 P.2d 925 (1995). Probable cause exists if the affidavit in support of the warrant sets forth facts and circumstances sufficient to establish

a reasonable inference that the defendant is probably involved in criminal activity and that evidence of the crime can be found at the place to be searched. Cole, 128 Wn.2d at 286; State v. Dalton, 73 Wn. App. 132, 136, 868 P.2d 873 (1994). Accordingly, "probable cause requires a nexus between criminal activity and the item to be seized, and also a nexus between the item to be seized and the place to be searched." State v. Goble, 88 Wn. App. 503, 509, 945 P.2d 263 (1997) (citing Wayne R. LaFave, Search and Seizure § 3.7(d), at 372 (3d ed.1996)).

An application for a warrant must state the underlying facts and circumstances on which it is based in order to facilitate an independent and objective evaluation of the evidence by the issuing magistrate. State v. Smith, 93 Wn.2d 329, 352, 610 P.2d 869 (1980); State v. Helmka, 86 Wn.2d 91, 92-93, 542 P.2d 115 (1975). Furthermore, before a magistrate issues a search warrant, there must be an adequate showing of "circumstances going beyond suspicion and mere personal belief that criminal acts have taken place and that evidence thereof will be found in the premises to be searched." State v. Seagull, 95 Wn.2d 898, 907, 632 P.2d 44 (1981) (quoting State v. Patterson, 83 Wn.2d 49, 58, 515 P.2d 496 (1973)). And statements regarding common habits or behavior of

other suspected or known criminal types cannot form the basis of probable cause. <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 104 Wn. App. 489, 500, 17 P.3d 3 (2001).

A finding of probable cause must be grounded in fact, not supposition. Cole, 128 Wn.2d at 286; Smith, 93 Wn.2d at 352; Helmka, 86 Wn.2d at 92-93. Absent a sufficient basis in fact from which to conclude evidence of illegal activity will likely be found at the place to be searched, a reasonable nexus is not established as a matter of law. See, e.g., Smith, 93 Wn.2d at 352 ("if the affidavit or testimony reveals nothing more than a declaration of suspicion and belief, it is legally insufficient"); Helmka, 86 Wn.2d at 92 ("Probable cause cannot be made out by conclusory affidavits."); Patterson, 83 Wn.2d at 52 (record must show objective criteria going beyond the personal beliefs and suspicions of the applicants for the warrant).

In this case, the known facts presented in the affidavit are that other individuals are suspected of stealing and selling ink sticks, that Gaines has ink sticks in his home, and that Gaines is selling ink sticks at below retail prices. Both Cutri and Shafner then conclude that Gaines must be selling ink sticks that are stolen, and that Gaines must know they are stolen. This conclusion is based

on suspicion and belief, and on what other individuals are suspected of doing. It is not based on verified facts regarding Gaines' actions.

The personal beliefs expressed in Shafner's affidavit do not establish probable cause that a crime has been committed, let alone support the issuance of a search warrant. If they did, then anyone who sells items on-line for less than retail prices may be subject to a search of their homes and businesses.

All evidence obtained directly or indirectly through the exploitation of an illegal search must be suppressed. Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 491, 501, 75 L. Ed. 2d 229, 103 S. Ct. 1319 (1983); State v. Ladson, 138 Wn.2d 343, 359, 979 P.2d 833 (1999). Therefore, all of the items recovered from Gaines' house during the first search, and any evidence obtained as a direct result of that search, should have been suppressed.

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