NO. 43170-0

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

TERRY EUGENE GAINES, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Kathryn Nelson

No. 10-1-00422-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST
Prosecuting Attorney

By
STEPHEN TRINEN
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 30925

930 Tacoma Avenue South
Room 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 798-7400

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

C. ARGUMENT.

1. PROBABLE CAUSE SUPPORTS THE WARRANT.

When a search warrant has been properly issued by a judge, the party attacking it has the burden of proving its invalidity. *State v. Fisher*, 96 Wn.2d 962, 639 P.2d 743 (1982).

The appellate court reviews a judge's determination that a warrant should issue for abuse of discretion. *State v. Neth*, 165 Wn.2d 177, 182, 196 P.3d 658 (2008) (citing *State v. Maddox*, 152 Wn.2d 499, 509, 98 P.3d 1199 (2004)); *State v. Cole*, 128 Wn.2d 262, 286, 906 P.2d 925 (1995). Great deference is afforded the issuing magistrate. *Neth*, 165 Wn.2d at 182 (citing *State v. Young*, 123 Wn.2d 173, 195, 867 P.2d 593 (1994)).

When reviewing probable cause at either a suppression hearing or on appeal, both the trial court and the appellate are limited to a review of the facts contained within the four corners of the search warrant declaration itself to support probable cause. *State v. Neth*, 165 Wn.2d 177, 182, 196 P.3d 658 (2008).

At a suppression hearing, the trial court reviews the magistrate's determination of probable cause in a quasi-appellate capacity. *Neth*, 165 Wn.2d at 182 (citing *Young*, 123 Wn.2d at 195). The appellate court is

also limited to a review of the four corners of the affidavit's supporting probable cause, so that appellate review consists of reviewing the trial court's legal determination of probable cause *de novo*. See *Neth*, 165 Wn.2d at 182 (citing *Young*, 123 Wn.2d at 195); *State v. Chamberlin*, 161 Wn.2d 30, 41 n. 5, 162 P.3d 389 (2007) (quoting *Ornelas v. United States*, 517 U.S. 690, 697, 116 S. Ct. 1657, 134 L.Ed.2d 911 (1996)); see also *In re Det. of Petersen*, 145 Wn.2d 789, 799, 42 P.3d 952 (2002) (clarifying that the *de novo* standard of review as appropriate for appellate review of the probable cause determinations).

For this reason, any findings of fact made by the trial court regarding whether or not the declaration supports probable cause would ordinarily be irrelevant, nor are the trial court's conclusions binding upon this court.⁷ What does matter at both a suppression hearing and on appellate review is the deference given to the decision of the issuing magistrate, because for all intents and purposes in the warrant context, it is the issuing magistrate that is the judicial authority entitled to find facts and draw inferences.

⁷ While the trial court's findings of fact are normally irrelevant for determinations of whether the declaration supports probable cause, they would be relevant in the context of a *Franks* or *Quasi-Franks* challenge to whether material was properly included or omitted from the declaration in the first place. See *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154, 57 L. Ed. 2d 667, 98 S. Ct. 2674 (1978).

The issuing magistrate is entitled to draw commonsense and reasonable inferences from the facts and circumstances set forth. *State v. Yokley*, 139 Wn.2d 581, 596, 989 P.2d 512 (1999); *State v. Helmka*, 86 Wn.2d 91, 93, 542 P.2d 115 (1975). “[D]oubts as to the existence of probable cause [will be] resolved in favor of the warrant.” *State v. J-R Distribs., Inc.*, 111 Wn.2d 764, 774, 765 P.2d 281 (1988)); *State v. Casto*, 39 Wn. App. 229, 232, 692 P.2d 890 (1984) (citing *State v. Partin*, 88 Wn.2d 899, 904, 567 P.2d 1136 (1977)).

[W]hen a magistrate has found probable cause, the courts should not invalidate the warrant by interpreting the affidavit in a hypertechnical, rather than a commonsense, manner. Although in a particular case it may not be easy to determine when an affidavit demonstrates the existence of probable cause, the resolution of doubtful or marginal cases in this area should be largely determined by the preference to be accorded to warrants. *State v. Walcott*, 72 Wn.2d 959, 962, 435 P.2d 994 (1967)(quoting, with approval from *United States v. Ventresca*, 380 U.S. 102, 13 L.Ed.2d 684, 85 S.Ct. 741 (1965); *State v. Chamberlin*, 161 Wn.2d 30, 162 P.3d 389 (2007)).

Probable cause to search is established if the affidavit in support of the warrant sets forth sufficient facts for a reasonable person to conclude that the defendant is probably involved in criminal activity, and that

evidence of a crime can be found at the place to be searched. *State v. Maxwell*, 114 Wn.2d 761, 791 P.2d 223 (1990). Facts that, standing alone, would not support probable cause can do so when viewed together with other facts. *State v. Cole*, 128 Wn.2d 262, 286, 906 P.2d 925 (1995).

When evaluating the determination of probable cause, “[t]he experience and expertise of an officer may be taken into account ... In fact, what constitutes probable cause is viewed from the vantage point of a reasonably prudent and cautious police officer.” *State v. Remboldt*, 64 Wn. App. 505, 510, 827 P.2d 505, *review denied*, 119 Wn.2d 1005 (1992).

Probable cause requires “sufficient facts to lead a reasonable person to conclude that there is a probability that the defendant is involved in criminal activity.” *State v. Gentry*, 125 Wn.2d 570, 607, 888 P.2d 1105, *cert. denied*, 516 U.S. 843 (1995). *See also State v. Bellows*, 72 Wn.2d 264, 266, 432 P.2d 654 (1967) citing *State v. Green*, 70 Wn.2d 955, 958, 425 P.2d 913 (1967).

“Probable cause exists where there are facts and circumstances sufficient to establish a reasonable inference that the defendant is involved in criminal activity and that evidence of the criminal activity can be found at the place to be searched.” *State v. Thein*, 138 Wn.2d 133, 140, 977

P.2d 582 (1999). “It is only the probability of criminal activity, not a *prima facie* showing of it, that governs probable cause.” *Maddox*, 152 2d at 505.

Probable cause for a search warrant requires two nexuses: First, a nexus between criminal activity and the item to be seized; and Second, a nexus between the item to be seized and the place to be searched. *State v. Thein*, 138 Wn.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999). Where each nexus is established, the warrant is valid.

Here, the probable cause declaration contains information establishing probable cause to believe that Gaines was trafficking in stolen property. The Xerox plant in Wilsonville, Oregon, is the only plant in the world that manufactures a kind of solid ink blocks or “strips” for color printing. “Sticks” of the ink are manufactured in six “strip” configurations, which are then divided into a three “strip” configuration when they are boxed up for distribution centers around the world.

Xerox corporate security personnel were investigating the sale of stolen ink online through eBay. The Sheriff’s Office in Washington County conducted investigation into the theft and sale of ink from the factory. That led to the arrest of one Xerox ink factory worker, Ayad Al-Masawi, who stole thousands of dollars in Xerox ink strips and sold them online. When Al-Masawi was arrested, officers seized over 9,946 ink

sticks, worth over \$275,000. Washington County Officers also arrested another person, Angel Gnau, for the sale of stolen Xerox ink on eBay. Gnau sold the ink under the user name "Angell1955."

The defendant here, Gaines, was the next largest seller of Xerox ink after Gnau. Xerox corporate security purchased ink from Gaines on three separate occasions from May 29 to June 2, 2008. On each occasion, they were able to buy the ink from Gaines for \$233.25 (including shipping), even though the market value of the ink to Xerox was \$425.96.

On about April 30, 2009, Tacoma Police Detective Shafner went to Gaines's home address in Tacoma to interview him. Gaines acknowledged selling the ink on eBay and confirmed the username from which Xerox personnel purchased the ink was in fact his user name. He claimed he got a palette of ink at an online auction, maybe Craigslist or something, and claimed he didn't remember where he got it. When Deputy Shafner pointed out that Criagslist was not an auction site, he said that maybe he got it from eBay. Despite claiming not to remember where he got the ink, Gaines did tell Detective Shafner that he bought the ink from a user with the name "Angeleyes." Deputy Shafner noted the similarity of this username and the name "Angell1955" used by Angel Gnau who had been arrested for the illegal sale of the ink. Gaines also

voluntarily showed Detective Shafner a bin of ink in his living room that contained some 500 items of ink.

Gaines indicated that he was unemployed and partially supporting himself through the sale of the ink. In order to profit from the sale, Gaines would have had to have purchased the ink for significantly less than he was selling it for. Gaines was reluctant to tell Deputy Shafner where he got the ink or how much he paid for it.

When the facts in the declaration are construed together as a whole, and all the facts and inferences are construed in the light most favorable to the validity of the warrant, these facts establish probable cause.

The issuing magistrate was entitled to find that Gaines was not credible and that he lied when he knew the user name of the seller he got the ink from, but didn't know what web site he got it from. Gaines was also not credible when he suggested Craigslist as an auction site, even though it is not. When these statements are combined with the fact that Gaines was selling the ink well below market value, and would have had to purchase the ink at a price substantially lower than his selling price in order to profit from it, the court could draw the reasonable inference that Gaines knew the ink was stolen.

There is no question that Gaines was selling the ink, as he acknowledged as much. There is also no question that there was a nexus between Gaines engaging in trafficking in stolen property, and that evidence of such trafficking would be found at his residence. Gaines voluntarily showed the bin of ink sticks to Detective Schafner and continued to sell them online after the interview.

Thus, the totality of the facts and inferences are sufficient to overcome the low threshold to establish probable cause. For this reason, the issuing magistrate properly issued the warrant, which is valid. Nor did the trial court err by denying the motion to suppress the evidence. Indeed, two different judges concluded that the declaration supported a reasonable inference that Gaines was engaged in trafficking in stolen property.

Accordingly, this claim is without merit and should be denied.

2. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE FOR THE JURY TO FIND DEFENDANT GUILTY OF TRAFFICKING IN SOLEN PROPERTY.

Defendant claims the State failed to establish sufficient evidence that defendant knew the ink sticks were stolen. Brief of Appellant, 17. Due process requires that the State bear the burden of proving each and every element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. McCullum*, 98 Wn.2d 484, 488, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983); *see also Seattle v.*

Gellein, 112 Wn.2d 58, 61, 768 P.2d 470 (1989); *State v. Mabry*, 51 Wn. App. 24, 25, 751 P.2d 882 (1988). The applicable standard of review is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Joy*, 121 Wn.2d 333, 338, 851 P.2d 654 (1993). Also, a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence admits the truth of the State's evidence and any reasonable inferences from it. *State v. Barrington*, 52 Wn. App. 478, 484, 761 P.2d 632 (1987), *review denied*, 111 Wn.2d 1033 (1988) (citing *State v. Holbrook*, 66 Wn.2d 278, 401 P.2d 971 (1965)); *State v. Turner*, 29 Wn. App. 282, 290, 627 P.2d 1323 (1981). All reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the appellant. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992).

Circumstantial and direct evidence are considered equally reliable. *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). In considering this evidence, “[c]redibility determinations are for the trier of fact and cannot be reviewed upon appeal.” *State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990) (citing *State v. Casbeer*, 48 Wn. App. 539, 542, 740 P.2d 335, *review denied*, 109 Wn.2d 1008 (1987)).

The written record of a proceeding is an inadequate basis on which to decide issues based on witness credibility. The differences in the testimony of witnesses create the need for such credibility determinations; these should be made by the trier of fact, who is best able to observe the witnesses and evaluate their testimony as it is given. On this issue, the Supreme Court of Washington said:

[...]great deference [...] is to be given the trial court's factual findings. It, alone, has had the opportunity to view the witness' demeanor and to judge his veracity.

State v. Cord, 103 Wn.2d 361, 367, 693 P.2d 81 (1985) (citations omitted).

In the present case, defendant was charged with 34 counts of trafficking in stolen property. CP 2682–2705. A person commits trafficking in stolen property if:

(1) A person knowingly initiates, organizes, plans, finances, directs, manages, or supervises the theft of property for sale to others, or knowingly traffics in stolen property.

RCW 9A.82.050(1). To “traffic” means to:

[S]ell, transfer, distribute, dispense, or otherwise dispose of stolen property to another person, or to buy, receive, possess, or obtain control of stolen property, with intent to sell, transfer, distribute, dispense, or otherwise dispose of the property to another person.

RCW 9A.82.010(19). And, a person knows or acts knowingly or with knowledge when:

(i) he or she is aware of a fact, facts, or circumstances or result described by a statute defining an offense; or

(ii) he or she has information which would lead a reasonable person in the same situation to believe that facts exist which facts are described by a statute defining an offense.

RCW 9A.08.010(1)(b). “The jury is permitted to find actual subjective knowledge if there is sufficient information which would lead a reasonable person to believe that a fact exists.” *State v. Johnson*, 119 Wn.2d 167, 174, 829 P.2d 1082 (1992). “Possession of recently stolen property in connection with other evidence tending to show guilt” is sufficient to infer knowledge. *State v. Couet*, 71 Wn.2d 773, 775, 430 P.2d 974 (1967). A jury may reasonably infer guilty knowledge from false statements given to a police officer. *State v. Moon*, 45 Wn. App. 692, 726 P.2d 1263 (1986), *abrogated on other grounds by State v. Cheatam*, 150 Wn.2d 626, 81 P.3d 830 (2003); *see also State v. DeVries*, 149 Wn.2d 842, 859 72 P.3d 478 (2003) (Madsen concurring/dissenting). A jury may also infer guilty knowledge from other false statements. *State v. Donald*, 68 Wn. App. 543, 844 P.2d 447 (1993) (citing *State v. Bundy*, 21 Wn. App. 697, 701, 587 P.2d 562 (1978)). Similarly, a jury is entitled to infer evidence of consciousness of guilt from the defendant’s other conduct, destruction of evidence, attempts to flee, etc. *See State v. Sanchez*, --- Wn. App. ---, 288 P.3d 351 (2012).

Here, the State presented sufficient evidence from which the jury could reasonably infer that defendant knew the ink sticks were stolen.

Defendant lied to Detective Shafner about the source of his ink. 13 RP 1158, ln. 2–8. Defendant lied about his rank in the military in a letter that he wrote in behalf of Tom Long regarding a child custody dispute. 13 RP 1140, ln. 4–17, 1141, ln. 8–10. Defendant also chose not to report, on a bankruptcy form, his alleged income of \$35,000 from his employment at “Northwest Sharpening,” despite signing to its accuracy under penalty of perjury. Defendant estimated that he was paid \$35,000 yearly in cash and that he paid taxes when he thought doing so was necessary. 13 RP 1148, ln. 1–16. He did this, supposedly, on the advice of an attorney whose name he cannot remember nor whom he could afford to hire. 13 RP 1145, ln. 2–25, 1146, ln. 1–6.

Defendant also falsified information on documents used in refinancing his house. Defendant prepared a W-2 in 2006 in which he reportedly made \$67,000. 13 RP 1149, ln. 15–23; 1151, ln. 18–19. This salary, according to the W-2 form, is from working at “Ram Tech,” a company defendant created. 13 RP 1146, ln. 22–25; 1150, ln. 3–5. At trial, however, defendant testified that in 2006 he was working for Northwest Sharpening, and that he was “not sure” what he did to make the \$67,000. 13 RP 1147, ln. 6–15; 1149, ln. 21–23. Nevertheless, defendant

later testified that the \$67,000 income in 2006 came from selling ink, but, that the ink sales were not done under the umbrella of Ram Tech. 13 RP 1151, ln. 23–25, 1152, ln. 1–3. Defendant claims that he falsified information on his W-2 to obtain a refinance on his house at the recommendation of his loan broker. 13 RP 1151, ln. 20–21; 1152, ln. 11–17. Defendant had “no idea” who the loan broker was. 13 RP 1152, ln. 14–17.

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